

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS Of Results of Operation and Financial Condition For the three and six months ended June 30, 2021

The following management discussion and analysis ("MD&A") of the consolidated operations and financial position of Collective Mining Ltd. (the company that resulted from a three-cornered amalgamation whereby a reverse take-over of POCML 5 Inc. ("POCML") by Collective Mining Inc. resulted) and its subsidiaries ("CML" or the "Company") for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 should be read in conjunction with the Company's unaudited interim consolidated financial statements and related notes for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, which have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB") applicable to the preparation of interim consolidated financial statements, including International Accounting Standard ("IAS") 34, Interim Financial Reporting ("IAS 34"). Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements and other financial information relating to the Company included in this report. The information included in this MD&A is as of August 24th, 2021, the date when the Board of Directors approved the Company's unaudited interim consolidated financial statements for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021. All monetary amounts included in this report are expressed in United States ("U.S.") dollars ("\$"), the Company's reporting and functional currency, unless otherwise noted. References to C\$ and COP are to Canadian dollars and Colombian pesos, respectively. This MD&A contains forward-looking information and should be read in conjunction with the risk factors described in the "Caution Regarding Forward-Looking Information" section.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| Description Of Business | 2 |
|--|----|
| 2021 Summary And Highlights | 2 |
| Business Transaction | 3 |
| Exploration Summary | 5 |
| Selected Quarter Consolidated Financial Information | 8 |
| Overview Of Consolidated Financial Results | 8 |
| Liquidity And Management Of Capital Resources | 9 |
| Equity And Warrants | 10 |
| Trends And Risks That Affect The Company's Financial Condition | 11 |
| Contractual Obligations, Commitments And Option Agreements | 12 |
| Related Party Transactions | 12 |
| Financial Instruments And Related Risks | 12 |
| Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements | 12 |
| Market Trends | 12 |
| Critical Accounting Estimates And Judgements | 13 |
| Changes In Accounting Policies | 13 |
| Risks And Uncertainties | 14 |
| Caution Regarding Forward-Looking Information | 28 |
| Corporate Information | 29 |

DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Collective Mining Inc. ("CMI" or "old Collective") was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act (Ontario) on February 11, 2020. On May 20, 2021, CMI and POCML 5 Inc. ("POCML"), a company listed on the Toronto Stock Venture Exchange (the "TSXV"), completed a three-cornered amalgamation resulting in a reverse take-over of POCML by CMI (the "RTO" or the "RTO Transaction") with the resulting issuer now operating as Collective Mining Ltd. ("CML").

On May 20, 2021, pursuant to the closing of the RTO, CML's issued and outstanding common shares (the "Common Shares") were accepted for listing and began trading on the TSXV under the symbol "CNL".

The registered office for CML is located at 82 Richmond St E 4th Floor Toronto, Ontario, Canada.

CML and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the "Company") is an early-stage exploration company and is principally engaged in the acquisition, exploration and development of mineral properties located in South America.

The Company currently holds mining applications and option agreements to explore and acquire two exploration projects in Colombia, South America.

2021 SUMMARY AND HIGHLIGHTS

2021 Business Highlights

- On May 20, 2021, the Company completed an RTO Transaction with POCML and began trading on the TSXV.
- In connection with the RTO Transaction, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement of \$12.4 million (C\$15 million) in the form of subscription receipts at a price of C\$1.00 per subscription receipt on May 20, 2021.
- On June 25, 2021, the Company announced the acceleration of the expiry date for subscription warrants, issued as part of the subscription receipts, to August 9, 2021.

Subsequent to quarter end:

 On August 19, 2021, the Company announced the appointment of Ana Milena Vásquez as Executive Vice-President and Rodolfo Higuera as Vice-President of Sustainability

2021 Exploration Highlights

- On June 3, 2021, the Company announced that a maiden 5,000-meter drill program is advancing on its 100% owned San Antonio project in Caldas, Colombia. The aim of the program is to initially determine the near surface geometry of three targets and, once defined, begin testing the potential for multiple, concealed, mineralized porphyry and breccia bodies within an area measuring approximately 2 x 1 kilometers ("km"). Surface work in this area has outlined anomalous gold and molybdenum soil values in association with altered porphyry intrusive bodies, porphyry-related stockwork quartz veining, hydrothermal breccias and polymetallic veins.
- On June 21, 2021, the Company provided an update on its Guayabales Project. The Company has rapidly advanced the project with intense geological mapping, soil and rock sampling programs and has completed and interpreted a high resolution, airborne geophysical survey. Work to date has highlighted a major NW-trending and mineralized structural corridor that incorporates both porphyry style copper-gold-molybdenum mineralization and associated high-grade gold-silver (base metal) vein systems.

Subsequent to quarter end:

The Company released initial channel sampling results at the Donut target ("Donut") within the Guayabales Project. Results returned high-grade gold and silver assay results from a shallow underground tunnel. Mapping of this tunnel has exposed a gold-copper porphyry stockwork of

- veinlets with overprinting polymetallic vein systems.
- On July 29, 2021, the Company released initial channel and rock sampling at the recently discovered target area called the Box within the Guayabales Project. Assays returned promising gold and silver assay results from both vein and porphyry mineralized systems. Surface mapping has demonstrated the presence of two mineralized systems along a stream traverse over a 600-meter horizontal distance. The northern portion of the Box target ("Box North") hosts porphyry mineralization with a vein overprint and the southern portion of the Box target ("Box South') contains vein mineralization and occurs 300 meters higher in elevation than Box North.
- On August 4, 2021, the Company released results from shallow underground channel sampling at its Olympus target within the Guayabales Project. The Olympus target is a NW trending mineralized corridor located in a porphyry intrusive. Gold and silver mineralization is hosted within multiple styles that include high grade vein, porphyry veinlet, breccia and disseminated systems.

2021 Operating and Financial Results

- Net loss for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 was \$11.7 million and \$13.8 million, respectively (\$0.38 per share and \$0.52 per share, respectively).
- Exploration expense for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 was \$1.3 million and \$2.8 million, respectively, including \$1.2 million and \$1.6 million, respectively, relating to the San Antonio project and \$0.1 million and \$1.2 million, respectively, relating to the Guayabales project.
- Total RTO Transaction costs and loss on revaluation of warrants liability was \$1.5 million and \$7.9 million, respectively.
- Operating cash outflow for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 was \$1.5 million and \$2.5 million, respectively.
- Net financing cash inflow for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 was \$13 million and \$13.1 million, respectively.
- A total of C\$15.1 million was raised through equity financing and option exercises for the six months ended June 30, 2021. In addition, C\$1.0 million was received in advance for warrants exercised in Q3 2021.
- Cash and cash equivalents at June 30, 2021 was \$12.0 million.

Events subsequent to June 30, 2021

As at August 9, 2021, the Company received total proceeds of C\$13.5 million, including the C\$1.0 million received as at June 30, 2021, from the exercise of subscription warrants and finders' warrants. All remaining outstanding warrants have expired.

BUSINESS TRANSACTION

On May 20, 2021, Old Collective and POCML completed a business combination agreement whereby POCML acquired all the issued and outstanding shares of Old Collective through a three-cornered amalgamation and resulting in a reverse take-over of POCML by Old Collective (the "RTO" or the "RTO Transaction") and constituted POCML's qualifying transaction pursuant to TSXV Policy 2.4. The resulting issuer company was renamed to Collective Mining Ltd. ("CML" or the "Company").

Upon closing of the RTO Transaction, the issued and outstanding shares of Old Collective prior to the RTO was exchanged on a one for one basis for the Company's Common Shares while every four issued and outstanding shares of POCML prior to the RTO was exchanged for one Common Share of the Company. Management and directors of the Company were appointed by Old Collective.

As a result of the RTO Transaction, the Company recognized a total of \$1.5 million in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 as public listing costs, representing the difference between the fair value of the shares issued to the original POCML shareholders and the fair value of POCML net assets acquired plus additional transaction costs incurred.

In connection with the RTO Transaction, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement for aggregate gross proceeds of C\$15 million in the form of subscription receipts at a price of C\$1.00 per subscription receipt ("Subscription Units") (the "Offering"). Each Subscription Unit consisted of one common share of the Company (a "Subscription Share") and a one-half share purchase warrant of the

Company (each whole warrant, a "Subscription Warrant"). Each Subscription Warrant has an exercise price of C\$2.00 per share with an expiry date of May 20, 2024, subject to an accelerated expiry option.

In connection with the Offering, eligible finders were issued 534,500 Subscription Units representing 5% of the number of Subscription Units placed by such eligible finders (the "Finders' Units"). The Finders' Units are considered a cost of the Offering.

Following the completion of the RTO Transaction and the Offering, 37,651,965 Common Shares are held by shareholders of old Collective and purchasers in the Offering, representing approximately 55% and 38%, respectively, of the total Common Shares on May 20, 2021. Shareholders of POCML prior to the RTO Transaction held approximately 7% of the total Common Shares on May 20, 2021.

On June 25, 2021, the Company issued a notice exercising its right to accelerate the expiry date of Subscription Warrants and warrants issued in connection with the Finders' Units (the "Finders' Warrants") to August 9, 2021. As at August 9, 2021, total proceeds of C\$13.5 million was received in respect of 6,495,000 exercised Subscription Warrants and 267,250 exercised Finders' Warrants. All remaining unexercised warrants have expired.

EXPLORATION SUMMARY

The following is a summary of exploration expenditures incurred for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020:

| | | 2021 | | | |
|----------------------------------|-----------|------------|------------------------|-----------|---------|
| For the three months ended | San | | | | |
| June 30 | Antonio | Guayabales | Corporate ¹ | Total | Total |
| | \$ | \$ | \$ | \$ | \$ |
| Option payments and fees | 33,947 | 8,486 | _ | 42,433 | 404,806 |
| Drilling services | 604,670 | _ | _ | 604,670 | _ |
| Field costs, surveys and other | 99,226 | 38,104 | _ | 137,330 | _ |
| Consulting and professional fees | 120,408 | 40,737 | _ | 161,145 | _ |
| Salaries and benefits | 145,377 | 50,910 | _ | 196,287 | _ |
| Assaying | 30,390 | 7,088 | _ | 37,478 | _ |
| Transportation and meals | 56,228 | 14,057 | 5,400 | 75,685 | _ |
| Community expenses | 22,825 | 5,707 | _ | 28,532 | _ |
| Depreciation and amortization | 20,520 | 5,538 | _ | 26,058 | _ |
| Security | 16,799 | 4,199 | _ | 20,998 | |
| | 1,150,390 | 174,826 | 5,400 | 1,330,616 | 404,806 |

¹ Corporate exploration relates to the evaluation of properties prior to the acquisition of the property or entering into an option agreement in respect of the property and general costs not directly attributable to a project.

| | | 2021 | | | |
|----------------------------------|-----------|------------|------------------------|-----------|---------|
| For the six months and period | San | | | | |
| ended June 30 | Antonio | Guayabales | Corporate ¹ | Total | Total |
| | \$ | \$ | \$ | \$ | \$ |
| Option payments and fees | 43,483 | 910,870 | _ | 954,353 | 404,806 |
| Drilling services | 720,576 | _ | _ | 720,576 | _ |
| Field costs, surveys and other | 167,441 | 52,992 | _ | 220,433 | _ |
| Consulting and professional fees | 183,315 | 55,717 | _ | 239,032 | _ |
| Salaries and benefits | 258,953 | 79,304 | _ | 338,257 | _ |
| Assaying | 46,742 | 7,496 | _ | 54,238 | _ |
| Transportation and meals | 84,224 | 21,054 | 5,400 | 110,678 | _ |
| Community expenses | 31,118 | 7,779 | _ | 38,897 | _ |
| Depreciation and amortization | 36,250 | 9,062 | _ | 45,312 | _ |
| Security | 26,277 | 6,569 | _ | 32,846 | _ |
| | 1,598,379 | 1,150,843 | 5,400 | 2,754,622 | 404,806 |

¹ Corporate exploration relates to the evaluation of properties prior to the acquisition of the property or entering into an option agreement in respect of the property and general costs not directly attributable to a project.

San Antonio Project

On July 9, 2020, the Company entered into an option agreement with a third party to acquire the San Antonio Project. The San Antonio Project is located approximately 80km south of Medellín and is situated in the Middle Cauca belt in the Department of Caldas, Colombia.

The option agreement provides the Company the right to explore, develop and acquire 100 percent of the property over a seven-year term, expiring on July 9, 2027, for total payments over the term of the agreement of \$2.5 million. The Company has the option to pay an additional \$2.5 million to the optionor upon reaching commercial production in exchange for the 1.5% NSR.

² For the period from February 11, 2020

Option payments under the agreement are as follows:

| | \$ |
|-------------------------------------|-----------|
| August 8, 2020 | 30,000 |
| July 9, 2021 | 50,000 |
| July 9, 2022 | 100,000 |
| July 9, 2023 | 150,000 |
| July 9, 2024 | 250,000 |
| July 9, 2025 | 420,000 |
| July 9, 2026 | 750,000 |
| July 9, 2027 | 750,000 |
| | 2,500,000 |
| Upon reaching commercial production | 2,500,000 |
| | 5,000,000 |

The Company may terminate the agreement at any time, upon notification to the optionor. In addition, the Company may acquire 100 percent of the property at any time prior to the expiration of the agreement by paying all remaining amounts under the agreement.

The exploration and development program, including the amount of expenditures, is at the sole discretion of the Company during the term of the agreement.

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, the Company recognized a total of \$1.2 million and \$1.6 million, respectively (three months ended June 30, 2020 and period from February 11, 2020 to June 30, 2020 – \$nil) as exploration and evaluation expense in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss in respect of the San Antonio Project.

Guayabales Project

First Guayabales Option

On June 24, 2020, the Company entered into an option agreement with a third party to explore, develop and acquire 100 percent of the property within the Guayabales Project (the "First Guayabales Option"). The Guayabales Project is located in the Middle Cauca belt in the Department of Caldas, Colombia.

The terms of the agreement are as follows:

Phase 1:

The Company must incur a minimum of \$3 million of exploration and evaluation expenditures in respect of property within the First Guayabales Option and make total option payments of \$2 million over a maximum four-year term ending on or before June 24, 2024 in order to proceed to Phase 2 of the agreement.

Phase 2:

To acquire a 90% interest in the property within the First Guayabales Option, the Company must incur a minimum of \$10 million of exploration and evaluation expenditures in respect of such property and make total option payments of \$2 million payable in equal instalments of \$0.2 million semi-annually over a maximum six-year term, commencing after the end of Phase 1.

Phase 3:

To acquire the remaining 10% interest in the property within the First Guayabales Option, the Company has the following options:

- acquire 0.625% annually to a total of 10% by paying \$0.25 million semi-annually, commencing at the end of Phase 2, to a total of \$8 million;
- make a one-time payment of \$8 million; or
- continually pay a 1% NSR commencing on the first calendar day of the month after 85% of the processing plant capacity has been achieved.

In addition, the Company is required to fund and complete all development and construction activities to bring the project to commercial production.

Summary:

The following is a summary of the option payments and exploration expenditures required to acquire 100% of the property under the First Guayabales Option:

| | | Option Payments | Exploration Expenditures | Total |
|---------------|-------------------------------|------------------------|--------------------------|------------|
| | | \$ | \$ | \$ |
| Total Phase 1 | June 24, 2020 – June 24, 2024 | 2,000,000 | 3,000,000 | 5,000,000 |
| Total Phase 2 | June 24, 2024 – June 24, 2030 | 2,000,000 | 10,000,000 | 12,000,000 |
| Total Phase 3 | To commercial production | 8,000,000 ¹ | _ | 8,000,000 |
| | | 12,000,000 | 13,000,000 | 25,000,000 |

¹ Based on the assumption that the Company does not elect to pay the NSR.

The Company may terminate the agreement at any time, upon notification to the optionor.

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, the Company recognized a total of \$0.2 million and \$0.5 million, respectively (three months ended and period from February 11, 2020 to June 30, 2020 – \$0.4 million) as exploration and evaluation expense in the consolidated statement of operations in respect of Phase I of the First Guayabales Option, including option payments of \$nil million and \$0.2 million, respectively (three months ended and period from February 11, 2020 to June 30, 2020 – \$0.3 million).

Second Guayabales Option

On January 4, 2021, the Company entered into an agreement with another third party to explore, develop and acquire additional property within the Guayabales Project (the "Second Guayabales Option").

The terms of the agreement are as follows:

Phase 1:

The option agreement provides the Company the right to explore the property within the Second Guayabales Option over a four-year term, expiring on January 2, 2025, for total payments over the term of the agreement of \$1.75 million, with minimum payments of \$0.7 million if the agreement is terminated on or before June 2, 2021 or \$1 million if the agreement is terminated on or before January 3, 2022.

Phase 2:

The option agreement provides the Company the right to explore the property within the Second Guayabales Option over a second four-year term between January 2, 2025 to January 2, 2029 for total payments over the term of \$1 million.

Phase 3:

Upon completion of Phase 2, the Company is required to pay a total of \$4.3 million over a two-year period ending on January 2, 2030 to acquire 100 percent of the property within the Second Guayabales Option.

The exploration and development program for the Second Guayabales Option, including the amount of expenditures, is at the sole discretion of the Company during the term of the agreement.

Summary:

The following is a summary of the option payments to acquire the property under the Second Guayabales Option:

| | \$ |
|---------------|-----------|
| Total Phase 1 | 1,750,000 |
| Total Phase 2 | 1,000,000 |
| Total Phase 3 | 4,300,000 |
| | 7,050,000 |

The Company may terminate the agreement at any time, upon notification to the optionor.

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, the Company recognized a total of \$nil million and \$0.7 million, respectively as exploration and evaluation expense in the consolidated statement of operations in respect of Phase I of the Second Guayabales Option, of which \$0.7 million represents required minimum option payments prior to July 3, 2021. As at June 30, 2021, \$0.3 million was included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities, representing the unpaid portion of the required minimum option payments.

SELECTED QUARTER CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

| As at | June 30, 2021 | December 31, 2020 |
|---------------------------------|------------------|----------------------|
| Consolidated Financial Position | \$ | \$ |
| Cash and cash equivalents | 12,026,246 | 1,717,385 |
| Total assets | 12,611,871 | 2,337,576 |
| Working capital ¹ | 10,478,234 | 1,817,977 |
| Equity | (48,910) | 1,893,041 |

¹ Working capital is a non-GAAP measure and represent current assets less current liabilities, excluding warrants liability.

| | Three mon | ths ended | Six months a | Six months and period | | |
|------------------------------------|--------------|-----------|---------------|-----------------------|--|--|
| | June | 30 | ended June 30 | | | |
| | 2021 | 2020 | 2021 | 2020 ¹ | | |
| | \$ | \$ | \$ | \$ | | |
| Consolidated Operating Results | · | | · | · | | |
| Exploration and evaluation expense | (1,330,616) | (404,806) | (2,754,622) | (404,806) | | |
| Loss on revaluation of warrants | , , , | (, , | , , , | , , | | |
| liability | (7,941,964) | (132,119) | (7,941,964) | (132,119) | | |
| Net loss and comprehensive loss | (11,719,806) | (547,437) | (13,812,297) | (547,437) | | |
| Basic and diluted loss per common | . , , , | , , , | | , , | | |
| share . | (0.38) | (0.05) | (0.52) | (0.07) | | |
| Consolidated Cook Flow | | | | | | |
| Consolidated Cash Flow | (4 500 000) | (400.007) | (0.470.700) | (500.050) | | |
| Operating cash outflow | (1,520,360) | (498,287) | (2,472,769) | (569,852) | | |
| Financing cash inflow | 13,041,492 | 524,729 | 13,059,140 | 596,294 | | |
| Net cash inflow, including foreign | | | | | | |
| exchange effect on cash balances | 11,322,085 | 29,234 | 10,308,861 | 29,234 | | |

¹ For the period from February 11, 2020

OVERVIEW OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Company's net loss for three and six months ended June 30, 2021 was \$11.8 million (\$0.38 per share) and \$13.8 million (\$0.52 per share), respectively (three months ended and period from February 11, 2020 to June 30, 2020 – \$0.5 million (\$0.05 and \$0.07 per share, respectively)) is mainly a result of the following:

- Exploration expenditures for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 of \$1.3 million and \$2.8 million, respectively (three months ended and period from February 11, 2020 to June 30, 2020 \$0.4 million), including option payments totaling \$nil and \$0.9 million, respectively (three months ended and period from February 11, 2020 to June 30, 2020 \$0.3 million).
- General and administration expense for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 of \$0.7 million and \$1.3 million, respectively (three months ended and period from February 11, 2020 to

June 30, 2020 – \$0.01 million), including:

- Compensation costs related to share-based payments for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 were \$0.3 million and \$0.4 million, respectively (three months ended and period from February 11, 2020 to June 30, 2020 – \$nil).
- Share-based payments include 590,000 options granted during the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 (three months ended and period from February 11, 2020 to June 30, 2020 nil) with average grant date fair values of C\$1.00 per share, respectively (three months ended and period from February 11, 2020 to June 30, 2020 \$nil per share.).
- RTO Transaction and public listing expense of \$1.5 million.
- Loss on revaluation of warrants liability of \$7.9 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 (three months ended and period from February 11, 2020 to June 30, 2020 \$0.1 million).

LIQUIDITY AND MANAGEMENT OF CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Company has no operating cash flow from a producing mine and therefore must utilize its current cash reserves and funds obtained from equity financing transactions, including the Offering (see "Business Transaction" in this MD&A) to fund its operating and exploration activities, including payments subject to exploration option agreements (see "Exploration Summary" in this MD&A).

The Company's objectives in managing capital are to ensure the entity continues as a going concern and to achieve optimal returns for its stakeholders. In addition, the Company will continue to assess new properties and seek to acquire an interest in additional properties if it believes there is sufficient potential, if they fit within the Company's overall strategic plan and if the Company has sufficient financial resources to do so. Management considers future capital requirements to sustain the future operation of the business, including current and new exploration program requirements, and assesses market conditions to determine when adjustments to the capital structure is appropriate.

For the six months ended June 30, 2021, the Company raised \$12.5 million (C\$15.1 million) from the closing of the Offering (See the "Business Transaction" section in this MD&A) and the exercise of options (period from February 11, 2020 to June 30, 2020 – \$0.6 million through private equity financing, including the exercise of warrants). In addition, \$0.8 million (C\$1.0 million) was received as at June 30, 2021 in respect of warrants exercised in Q3 2021.

As at June 30, 2021, the Company's cash and working capital position (current assets less current liabilities, excluding warrants liability ("Working Capital")) was \$12 million and \$10.5 million, respectively. The Company will utilize its Working Capital towards general operating activities and the advancement of its exploration programs, including its obligations under its exploration option agreements (see "Exploration Summary" in this MD&A).

Cash Flow Items

The following is a summary of the Company's cash flows for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 and 20201:

| | Three months ended June 30 | | Six months and period ended June 30 | | |
|-----------------------------|-------------------------------|-----------|-------------------------------------|-------------------|--|
| | 2021 | 2020 | 2021 | 2020 ¹ | |
| | \$ | \$ | \$ | \$ | |
| Operating activities | (1,520,360) | (498,287) | (2,472,769) | (569,852) | |
| Financing activities | 13,041,492 | 524,729 | 13,059,140 | 596,294 | |
| Investing activities | (98,492) | _ | (160,182) | _ | |
| | 11,422,640 | 26,442 | 10,426,189 | 26,442 | |
| Foreign exchange on cash | (100,555) | 2,792 | (117,328) | 2,792 | |
| Net change in cash balances | 11,322,085 | 29,234 | 10,308,861 | 29,234 | |

1 For the period from February 11, 2020

Operating Activities

Operating cash outflow for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 was \$1.5 million and \$2.5

million, respectively, compared to the \$0.5 million and \$0.6 million, respectively, for the three months ended and period from February 11, 2020 to June 30, 2020. The change is mainly due to the increase of exploration activities incurred in 2021.

Financing Activities

Net cash inflow from financing activities for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 was \$13 million and \$13.1 million, respectively, compared to \$0.5 million and \$0.6 million, respectively, for the three months ended and period from February 11, 2020 to June 30, 2020. The increase is due to the closing of the Offering in 2021 (See the "Business Transaction" section in this MD&A).

Investing Activities

Cash outflow for investing activities for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 was \$0.1 million and \$0.2 million, respectively, compared to \$nil for the three months ended and period from February 11, 2020 to June 30, 2020 and relate to the acquisition of fixed assets and intangibles.

EQUITY AND WARRANTS

Fully Diluted Shares

| As at | June 30, 2021 | December 31, 2020 |
|-----------------------------------|------------------|----------------------|
| | | _ |
| Shares issued | 40,436,965 | 21,617,465 |
| Stock options outstanding | 2,087,500 | 2,120,000 |
| Subscription Warrants outstanding | 7,500,000 | _ |
| Finders' Warrants outstanding | 267,250 | _ |
| <u> </u> | 50,291,715 | 23,737,465 |

Share Capital

As at June 30, 2021, the Company had a total of 40,436,965 Common Shares resulting from the issuance of shares resulting from the RTO Transaction, the Offering, private equity financing in 2020, including unit placements whereby both common shares and common share purchase warrants were issued, and the exercise of warrants and options.

Total proceeds raised for the six months ended June 30, 2021 from the Offering was \$12.4 million (C\$15 million). Proceeds from the Offering in 2021 and unit placements in 2020 were allocated between shares and warrants issued on a pro-rata basis of their fair value within the unit using the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine fair value for the warrants. See also the "Warrants" section of this MD&A.

Similarly, total financing costs of \$0.5 million for the Offering, including the value of the Finders' Units of \$0.4 million, was allocated between the Subscription Shares and the Subscription Warrants, with \$0.4 million recognized as a reduction of share capital and \$0.1 million recognized as financing cost in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021.

Warrants

For the six months ended June 30, 2021 and during 2020, the Company had warrants denominated in Canadian dollars. Proceeds from unit placements are allocated between shares and warrants issued on a pro-rata basis of their fair value within the unit. Fair value for the warrants is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. As at June 30, 2021, warrants outstanding are made up of Subscription Warrants and Finders' Warrants. See also the "Business Transaction" section of this MD&A.

Subscription Warrants are classified as derivative financial liabilities, presented as warrants liability on the consolidated statement of financial position and measured at fair value until the instruments are exercised or extinguished in the consolidated financial statements. Any gain or loss arising from the revaluation of a Subscription Warrant on the date of exercise or on the financial reporting date is recognized in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss. Warrants issued and exercised in 2020 were accounted for in the same manner as Subscription Warrants.

The Finders' Units are accounted for under IFRS 2 – Share-Based Payments ("IFRS 2"), as they were issued in exchange for services and therefore, the value allocated to the Finders' Warrants are classified in warrants reserve, a component of contributed surplus, and are not subsequently revalued. The value of services received is determined to be the issue price of the Finders' Units on the date of issue, May 20, 2021, and are allocated between Finders' Shares and Finders' Warrants on a pro-rata basis of their fair value within the unit. Fair value for the Finders' Warrants was determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.

As at December 31, 2020, there were no warrants outstanding. The following is summary of warrants outstanding in the consolidated statement of financial position as at June 30, 2021.

| | Number of warrants | \$ |
|---|--------------------|------------|
| Warrants liability – Subscription Warrants | 7,500,000 | 10,822,222 |
| Contributed surplus, warrants reserve – Finders' Warrants | 267,250 | 102,633 |

The issue date fair value on May 20, 2021 of the warrants liability in respect of the Subscription Warrants and the warrants reserve in respect of the Finders' Warrants was \$2.9 million and \$0.1 million, respectively. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, the Company recognized a derivative loss of \$7.9 million (three months ended and period from February 11, 2020 to June 30, 2020 – \$0.1 million) in respect of the revaluation of warrants classified within warrants liability.

All outstanding warrants at June 30, 2021 have an exercise price of C\$2.00 per share and expire on August 9, 2021 as a result of the Company exercising its right to accelerate the expiry date on June 25, 2021. As at August 9, 2021, 6,495,000 Subscription Warrants and 267,250 Finders' Warrants were exercised, resulting in a total of C\$13.5 million received by the Company subsequent to June 30, 2021, and all remaining unexercised warrants expired.

Options

On January 5, 2021, vesting for 500,000 options were accelerated and exercised. Proceeds from the exercise was C\$0.1 million.

As at June 30, 2021, 2,087,500 (December 31, 2020 – 2,120,000) stock options were outstanding at an average exercise price of C\$0.59 (December 31, 2020 – C\$0.37), of which 350,000 (December 31, 2020 – nil) were exercisable. The exercise in full of the outstanding stock options would raise a total of approximately C\$1.3 million. Options expire between 2022 and 2024. However, management does not know when and how much will be collected from the exercise of such securities as this is dependent on the determination of the option holders and the market price of the Common Shares.

Outstanding Equity and Warrants Data

As at August 24, 2021, the Company had 47,236,715 Common Shares and a total of 2,200,000 share options outstanding to purchase Common Shares. All Subscription Warrants and Finders' Warrants have been exercised.

TRENDS AND RISKS THAT AFFECT THE COMPANY'S FINANCIAL CONDITION

Please see the "Market Trends" and "Risks and Uncertainties" sections of this MD&A for information regarding known trends, demands, commitments, events or uncertainties that are reasonably likely to have an effect on the Company's business and industry and economic factors affecting the Company's performance.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS, COMMITMENTS AND OPTION AGREEMENTS

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

As at June 30, 2021, the Company had the following contractual commitments and obligations:

| | | Less than | 2 – 3 | 4 – 5 | Greater than |
|--------------------------------|---------|-----------|-------|-------|--------------|
| | Total | 1 Year | Years | Years | 5 Years |
| | \$ | \$ | \$ | \$ | \$ |
| Other lease commitments | 98,633 | 94,238 | 4,395 | _ | _ |
| Social and governance | | | | | |
| commitments ¹ | 68,158 | 68,158 | _ | _ | _ |
| Service contracts ² | 500,968 | 500,968 | _ | _ | _ |
| | 667,759 | 663,364 | 4,395 | _ | _ |

¹ Represents the strategic alliance executed with the Coffee Growers Committee of Caldas and the Municipality of Supia.

Option Agreements

The Company has the option to terminate its option agreements at any time. Future expenditures are therefore dependent on the success of exploration and development programs and a decision by management to continue or exercise its option(s) for the relevant project and agreement.

As at June 30, 2021, the timing of expenditures, including option payments, under the Company's option agreements are as follows:

| | | Less than | 2 – 3 | 4 – 5 | Greater than |
|---------------------------------------|------------|-----------|-----------|-----------|--------------|
| | Total | 1 Year | Years | Years | 5 Years |
| | \$ | \$ | \$ | \$ | \$ |
| San Antonio Option | 4,920,000 | _ | 250,000 | 670,000 | 4,000,000 |
| First Guayabales Option ¹ | 23,714,059 | 445,837 | 2,518,222 | 3,750,000 | 17,000,000 |
| Second Guayabales Option ² | 6,350,000 | 300,000 | 500,000 | 500,000 | 5,050,000 |
| | 34,984,059 | 745,837 | 3,268,222 | 4,920,000 | 26,050,000 |

¹ Based on the assumption that the Company does not elect to pay the NSR. Timing of remaining required exploration expenditures are estimated by management.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

As at June 30, 2021, \$\text{nil million} (December 31, 2020 - \$0.01 million) is payable to an employee in respect of expenses incurred on behalf of the Company in 2020.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RELATED RISKS

All financial instruments are required to be measured at fair value on initial recognition. The fair value is based on quoted market prices, unless the financial instruments are not traded in an active market. In this case, the fair value is determined by using valuation techniques like discounted cash flows, the Black-Scholes option pricing model or other valuation techniques. Measurement in subsequent periods depends on the classification of the financial instrument. A description of financial instruments and their fair value is included in the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021,

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

As of the date of this MD&A, the Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have, or are reasonably likely to have, a current or future effect on the results of operations or financial condition of the Company, including, without limitation, such considerations as liquidity and capital resources.

MARKET TRENDS

Global Financial Market Conditions

Events and conditions in the global financial markets, particularly over the last two years, continue to

² Represents drilling contracts.

² Excludes required minimum option payments as at June 30, 2021, disclosed under the Contractual Obligations and Commitments section of this MD&A.

impact gold prices, commodity prices, interest rates and currency rates. These conditions, as well as market volatility, may have a positive or negative impact on the Company's operating costs, project exploration expenditures and planning of the Company's projects.

Gold Market

The Company's economic assessment of its gold projects is impacted by the market-driven gold price. The gold market is affected by negative real interest rates over the near-to-medium term, continued sovereign debt risks, elevated geo-political risks, mine production and substantial above-ground reserves that can affect the price should a portion of these reserves be brought to market.

While many factors impact the valuation of gold, traditionally the key factors are actual and expected U.S. dollar value, global inflation rates, oil prices and interest rates.

The gold price has displayed considerable volatility in the last few years. Continued uncertainties in major markets, specifically in the U.S. and European countries, and increased trade tensions between the U.S. and China were the main driving forces in the demand volatility for gold. The daily closing spot gold price during 2021 was between \$1,684 and \$1,943 per ounce, for an average price in 2021 of \$1,806 per ounce.

Currency

The Company's functional and reporting currency is the U.S. dollar. The key currencies to which the Company is exposed are the Canadian dollar and the Colombian peso, which have experienced volatility relative to the U.S. dollar over the last several years. Fluctuation of the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar has a direct impact on the Company as proceeds from equity financing are in Canadian dollars. However, the Company has mitigated the majority of this impact by converting a significant portion of proceeds received from the Offering to U.S. dollars. Fluctuation of the Colombian peso has a direct impact on the Company's exploration and operating activities.

The Company expects to have significant U.S. dollar and Colombian peso requirements, mainly in relation to exploration activities, salaries and exploration option payments. As at June 30, 2021, the Company held \$5.5 million in U.S. dollars and the equivalent of \$0.2 million in Colombian pesos. Purchases of U.S. dollars and Colombian pesos will be required to meet the Company's obligations.

As at August 24, 2021, the Company held approximately \$20.8 million in cash and cash equivalents, of which \$9.1 million was in U.S. dollars, the equivalent of \$11.2 million was in Canadian dollars, and the equivalent of \$0.5 million in Colombian pesos, representing approximately 44%, 54%, and 2%, respectively of total cash balances.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The determination of estimates requires the exercise of judgement based on various assumptions and other factors such as historical experience and current and expected economic conditions. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions as well as critical judgements in applying the Company's accounting policies are detailed in Note 3 of the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Future Accounting Changes

The following revised standards and amendments, unless otherwise stated, are effective on or after January 1, 2022, with early adoption permitted, and have not been applied in preparing the consolidated financial statements. The Company does not plan to adopt any of these standards before they become effective.

IAS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements

IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements ("IAS 1") was amended to clarify the classification of liabilities between current and noncurrent to be based on the rights that exist at the end of the reporting period and that such classification is unaffected by the expectations of the entity or events after the reporting date. The changes must be applied retrospectively in accordance with IAS 8, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors ("IAS 8").

IAS 1 was also amended to help preparers in deciding which accounting policies to disclose in their financial statements.

These amendments are effective on or after January 1, 2023. The Company does not expect an impact to its consolidated financial statements on adoption.

IAS 16 - Property, Plant and Equipment

IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment ("IAS 16") was amended to prohibit the deduction of proceeds from the sale of items produced from an item of property, plant and equipment while the entity is preparing the asset for its intended use. IAS 16 further clarifies that the financial performance of the asset is not relevant in the assessment of the technical and physical performance of the asset. The changes are effective on or after January 1, 2022.

The Company does not expect an impact to its consolidated financial statements on adoption as the Company does not expect to be in the construction phase at the time of adoption.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The business of the Company is subject to a variety of risks and uncertainties. Investment in Common Shares should be considered highly speculative and involves a high degree of risk due to the nature of the Company's business and the present stage of development, production and exploration and the location of its properties in Colombia. Readers should carefully consider the risks disclosed in this MD&A, and the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021. These risk factors are not a definitive list of all risk factors associated with an investment in the Company or relating to the Company's operations and any of these risk elements could have a material adverse effect on the business of the Company.

Nature of Mineral Exploration

Resource exploration and development is a speculative business and involves a high degree of risk which even a combination of experience, knowledge and careful evaluation may not be able to overcome. The properties in which the Company holds an interest are without a known mineral resource or reserve. Each of the proposed programs on the properties is an exploratory search for resources or additional resources. There is no assurance that commercial quantities of resources will be discovered. There is also no assurance that even if commercial quantities of resources are discovered, a mineral property will be brought into commercial production. The discovery of mineral deposits is dependent upon a number of factors, not the least of which is the technical skill of the exploration personnel involved. The commercial viability of a mineral deposit, once discovered, is also dependent upon a number of factors, some of which are the particular attributes of the deposit, such as size, grade, ground conditions and proximity to infrastructure, community relations, metal prices and government regulations, including regulations relating to royalties, allowable production, importing and exporting of minerals, and environmental protection. The exact effect of these factors cannot be accurately predicted, but the combination of these factors may result in the Company not receiving an adequate return on invested capital. There is no certainty that the expenditures made by the Company towards the search and evaluation of mineral deposits will result in discoveries of economic commercial quantities of ore.

Coronavirus ("COVID-19")

On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the rapidly spreading COVID-19 outbreak a global pandemic. This pandemic has had a significant impact on the global economy including that of Colombia, where the Company operates, through restrictions put in place by the various levels of

governments regarding travel, business operations and isolation orders to reduce the rate of spread of new infections. The Company has been closely monitoring developments in the COVID-19 outbreak since its incorporation and has implemented preventative measures to ensure the safety of our workforce and local communities. To date, there have been no outbreaks of COVID-19 at our properties and there have been no significant disruptions to current operations. The Company continues to manage and respond to COVID-19 within an internally constructed framework, along with recommendations of health authorities and local and national regulatory requirements.

Foreign Country Risk

The Company's principal mineral properties are located in rural Colombia. Over the past 10 to 15 years, the Government of Colombia has made strides in improving the social, political, economic, legal and fiscal regimes. However, operations in Colombia are still subject to risk due to the potential for social, political, economic, legal and fiscal instability. The government in Colombia faces ongoing problems including, but not limited to, unemployment and inequitable income distribution and unstable neighboring countries. The instability in neighboring countries could result in, but not limited to, an influx of immigrants which could result in a humanitarian crisis and/or increased illegal activities. Colombia is also home to a number of insurgency groups and large swaths of the countryside are under guerrilla influence. In addition, Colombia experiences narcotics-related violence, a prevalence of kidnapping, extortion and thefts and civil unrest in certain areas of the country. Such instability may require the Company to suspend operations on its properties. It is common practice in Colombia to have cooperation agreements with the police and/or army to increase the level of protection in the area of influence. There is a risk that agreements with the police and/or army cannot be reached on time or on terms that are acceptable to the Company, which could result in an increase in security threats or loss of control at the project site that could have a material adverse effect on the Company.

Although the Company is not presently aware of any circumstances or facts which may cause the following to occur, other risks may involve matters arising out of the evolving laws and policies in Colombia, any future imposition of special taxes or similar charges, as well as foreign exchange fluctuations and currency convertibility and controls, the unenforceability of contractual rights or the taking or nationalization of property without fair compensation, restrictions on the use of expatriates in the Company's operations, renegotiation or nullification of existing concessions, licenses, permits and contracts, illegal mining, changes in taxation policies, or other matters.

The Government of Colombia reached a peace accord in 2016 with the country's largest guerrilla group. The Government of Colombia also entered into and dissolved formal discussions with the country's second largest guerrilla group due to their unwillingness to cease criminal and violent crimes. There is no certainty that the agreements will be adhered to by all of the members of the guerrilla groups or that a peace agreement will be ultimately reached with the country's second largest guerrilla group. There is a risk that any peace agreement might contain new laws or change existing laws that could have a material adverse effect on the Company's projects. Furthermore, the achievement of peace with the country's guerrilla groups could create additional social or political instability in the immediate aftermath, which could have a material adverse effect on the Company.

Foreign Operations

The Company's exploration operations are located in Colombia. Colombia's legal and regulatory requirements in connection with companies conducting mineral exploration and mining activities, banking system and controls as well as local business culture and practices are different from those in Canada. The officers and directors of the Company must rely, to a great extent, on the Company's Colombian legal counsel and local consultants retained by the Company in order to keep abreast of material legal, regulatory and governmental developments as they pertain to and affect the Company's business operations, and to assist the Company with its governmental relations. The Company must rely, to some extent, on the members of management and the Board who have previous experience working and conducting business in Colombia to enhance its understanding of and appreciation for the local business culture and practices in Colombia. The Company also relies on the advice of local experts and professionals in connection with current and new regulations that develop in respect of banking, financing and tax matters in Colombia. Any developments or changes in such legal, regulatory or governmental requirements or in local business practices in Colombia are beyond the control of the Company and may adversely affect its business.

The Company also bears the risk that changes can occur to the Government of Colombia and a new government may void or change the laws and regulations that the Company is relying upon. Currently, there are no restrictions on the repatriation from Colombia of earnings to foreign entities and Colombia has never imposed such restrictions. However, there can be no assurance that restrictions on repatriation of earnings from Colombia will not be imposed in the future. Exchange control regulations require that any proceeds in foreign currency originated on exports of goods from Colombia (including minerals) be repatriated to Colombia. However, purchase of foreign currency is allowed through any Colombian authorized financial entities for purposes of payments to foreign suppliers, repayment of foreign debt, payment of dividends to foreign stockholders and other foreign expenses.

Due to its locations in Colombia, the Company depends in part upon the performance of the Colombian economy. As a result, the Company's business, financial position and results of operations may be affected by the general conditions of the Colombian economy, price instabilities, currency fluctuations, inflation, interest rates, regulatory changes, taxation changes, social instabilities, political unrest and other developments in or affecting Colombia over which the Company does not have control. Because international investors' reactions to the events occurring in one emerging market country sometimes appear to demonstrate a "contagion" effect in which an entire region or class of investment is disfavoured by international investors, Colombia could also be adversely affected by negative economic or financial developments in other emerging market countries.

Requirement for Future Financing

The Company has limited financial resources and has limited sources of operating cash flow. The Company will require additional funds to finance exploration and future acquisitions. The exploration and development of the various mineral properties in which the Company holds interests and the acquisition of additional properties depend upon the Company's ability to obtain financing through equity financings, joint ventures of projects, stream financing, debt financing or other means. The perception that security conditions in Colombia have not improved and the decline in the capital markets for the extractive industry could hinder the Company's ability to access capital in a timely or cost-effective manner. Although the Company has been successful in raising funds to date, there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to raise additional financing required or that such financing will be available on terms acceptable to the Company. Failure to obtain additional financing on a timely basis may result in delays or an indefinite postponement of exploration, development, or production on any or all of the Company's properties, could cause the Company to reduce or terminate its operations or lose its interest in its properties and cease to continue as a going concern.

In addition, there can be no assurance that future financing can be obtained without substantial dilution to existing shareholders. The issuance of additional securities and the exercise of common share purchase warrants, stock options and other convertible securities will result in dilution of the equity interests of any persons who are or may become holders of Common Shares.

Property Interests

The ability of the Company to carry out successful mineral exploration, development and production activities will depend on a number of factors. The Company has a number of obligations with respect to acquiring and maintaining the Company's interest in certain of its current properties. No guarantee can be given that the Company will be in a position to comply with all such conditions and obligations, or to require third parties to comply with their obligations with respect to such properties. Furthermore, while it is common practice that permits and licenses may be renewed, extended or transferred into other forms of licenses appropriate for ongoing operations, no guarantee can be given that such renewal, extension or a transfer will be granted to the Company or, if they are granted, that the Company will be in a position to comply with all conditions that are imposed. Some of the Company's interests are the subject of pending applications to register assignments, extend the term, and increase the area or to convert licenses to concession contracts and there is no assurance that such applications will be approved as submitted.

There is no assurance that the Company's rights and foreign interests will not be revoked or significantly altered to the detriment of the Company.

No Assurance of Titles or Boundaries

The Company is not the registered holder of all of the licences or concessions that comprise its projects in Colombia. Some of the licences and concessions that comprise the Company's projects in Colombia are registered in the names of certain third-party entities. The Company's interest in the Colombia projects is partially derived from Option Agreements. Under the Option Agreements, third parties have agreed to transfer the licences and concessions that comprise such properties to the Company upon satisfaction of certain conditions including but not limited to the receipt of all of the option payments. There can be no assurance, however, that such transfers will be effected. Events may occur that would prevent the third-party entities from being able to transfer such licences and concessions to the Company. In addition, in the event of a dispute between the parties, the Company's only recourse would be to commence legal action in Colombia. If the Company is required to commence legal proceedings, there is no assurance that the Company will succeed in such proceedings, and, therefore, may never obtain title to such properties.

Other parties may dispute title to any of the Company's mineral properties or land titles, any of the Company's properties may be subject to prior unregistered agreements, transfers or claims, and title may be affected by, among other things, undetected encumbrances or defects or governmental actions or errors. A successful challenge to the precise area and location of the Company's projects could result in the Company being unable to operate on its properties as permitted or being unable to enforce its rights with respect to its properties. The Company does not have any surface rights and there is no assurance that the acquisition of surface rights will be available on reasonable terms or at all.

Dependence on Key Management Employees

The Company's exploration programs will depend on the business and technical expertise of key executives, including the directors of the Company and a small number of highly-skilled and experienced executives and personnel. Due to the relatively small size of the Company, the loss of any of these individuals or the Company's inability to attract and retain additional highly skilled employees may adversely affect its business and future operations. The Company does not have key man insurance in place with respect to any of these individuals.

Community Relations

Maintaining a positive relationship with the communities in which the Company operates is critical to continuing successful exploration and development. There can be no assurances that the Company will be successful at managing these impacts. Community support for operations is a key component of a successful exploration or development project. Various international and national laws, codes, resolutions, conventions, guidelines and other materials relating to corporate social responsibility (including rights with respect to health and safety and the environment) may also require government consultation with communities on a variety of issues affecting local stakeholders, including the approval of mining rights or permits. The Company may come under pressure in the jurisdictions in which it explores or develops to demonstrate that other stakeholders benefit and will continue to benefit from its commercial activities. Local stakeholders and other groups may oppose the Company's current and future exploration, development and operational activities through legal or administrative proceedings, protests, roadblocks or other forms of public expression against the Company's activities. Opposition by such groups may have a negative impact on the Company's reputation and its ability to receive necessary mining rights or permits. Opposition may also require the Company to modify its exploration and development plans or enter into agreements with local stakeholders or governments with respect to its projects. Any of these outcomes could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition, results of operations and Common Share price.

Labour and Employment Matters

While the Company has good relations with its employees, these relations may be impacted by changes in labour laws which may be introduced by the relevant governmental authorities in jurisdictions in which the Company carries on business. Adverse changes in such legislation may have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, results of operations and financial condition.

The Company's workforce is not governed by a minority union or a cooperative agreement. Although labour relations with its employees have been good, there is no assurance that this will continue in the future or that employees will not attempt to organize in the future. Any significant disruption in labour

arrangements could have a material adverse effect on the Company's reputation and its ability to continue to operate.

Non-Governmental Organization Intervention

The Company's relationship with the communities in which it operates is critical to ensure the future success of its existing operations. A number of non-governmental organizations are becoming increasingly active in Colombia as the security and safety in Colombia increases and the Government implements the peace accords. These organizations may create or inflame public unrest and anti-mining sentiment among the inhabitants in areas of mineral development. Such organizations have been involved, with financial assistance from various groups, in mobilizing sufficient local anti-mining sentiment to protest and even prevent the issuance of required permits for the development of mineral projects of other companies. While the Company is committed to operating in a socially responsible manner, there is no guarantee that the Company's efforts in this respect will mitigate this potential risk.

Foreign Currency Fluctuations

The Company's current and proposed exploration in Colombia render it subject to foreign currency fluctuations, which may materially affect its financial position and results. The Company's reporting currency is the U.S. dollar, which is exposed to fluctuations against other currencies. In addition, the Company maintains cash accounts in Canadian dollars, U.S. dollars and Colombian pesos and has monetary assets and liabilities in U.S. and Canadian dollars and Colombian pesos. The important exchange rates for the Company are currently the rate between the U.S. dollar and the Colombian peso and the Canadian dollar and the U.S. dollar. While the Company is funding work in Colombia, the Company's results of operations are subject to foreign currency fluctuation risks and such fluctuations may adversely affect the financial position and operating results of the Company. The Common Shares are traded on the TSXV, a Canadian stock exchange. Prior and future equity financings result in the generation of Canadian dollar proceeds to fund the Company's activities which are principally incurred in U.S. dollars or Colombian pesos. To the extent funds from such financings are maintained in Canadian dollars, the Company's results can be significantly impacted by adverse changes in exchange rates between the Canadian dollar and the U.S. dollar and Colombian peso. From time to time, to partially mitigate transactional volatility in the U.S. dollar and Colombian peso, the Company may enter into foreign currency instruments in order to partially offset existing currency exposures.

Cybersecurity Risks

Cyber threats have evolved in severity, frequency and sophistication in recent years, and target entities are no longer primarily from the financial or retail sectors. The Company is reliant on the continuous and uninterrupted operations of its information technology ("IT") systems. User access and security of all IT systems are critical elements to the operations of the Company. Protection against cyber security incidents and cloud security, and security of all of the Company's IT systems, are critical to the operations of the Company. These IT systems could be subject to network disruptions caused by a variety of sources, including computer viruses, security breaches and cyber-attacks, as well as disruptions resulting from incidents such as cable cuts, damage to physical plants, natural disasters, terrorism, fire, power loss, vandalism and theft or other compromising of confidential or otherwise protected information. The Company's operations also depend on the timely maintenance, upgrade and replacement of networks, equipment, IT systems and software, as well as pre-emptive expenses to mitigate the risks of failures. Any of these and other events could result in IT system failures, delays and/or increase in capital expenses. The failure of IT systems or a component of information systems could, depending on the nature of any such failure, adversely impact the Company's reputation and results of operations. The Company stores all of its proprietary data on cloud servers including, but not limited to, financial records, drilling databases, technical information, legal information, licences and human resource records. There is no assurance that third parties will not illegally access these records which could have a material adverse effect on the Company.

Social Media

As a result of the increased usage and the speed and global reach of social media and other web-based tools used to generate, publish and discuss user-generated content and to connect with other users, companies today are at much greater risk of losing control over how they are perceived in the marketplace. Damage to reputation can be the result of the actual or perceived occurrence of any number

of events, and could include any negative publicity (for example, with respect to handling of environmental matters or the Company's dealings with community groups), whether true or not. The Company places a great emphasis on protecting its image and reputation, but the Company does not ultimately have direct control over how it is perceived by others. Reputation loss may lead to increased challenges in developing and maintaining community relations, decreased investor confidence and an impediment to overall ability to advance its projects, thereby having a material adverse impact on financial performance, cash flows and growth prospects.

Health and Safety Risk

Mining and exploration, like many other extractive natural resource industries, is subject to potential risks and liabilities due to accidents that could result in serious injury or death. The impact of such accidents could affect the profitability of the operations, cause an interruption to operations and development, lead to a loss of licenses, affect the reputation of the Company and its ability to obtain further licenses, damage community relations and reduce the perceived appeal of the Company as an employer. The Company has limited procedures in place to manage health and safety protocols to reduce the risk of occurrence and the severity of any accident and plans to invest time and resources in the future to enhance health and safety at all operations.

The Company has limited insurance policies in place to cover some accidents and regularly monitors the adequacy of such policies; however, not all risks are covered by insurance policies due to either coverage not being available or not being available at commercially reasonable prices.

Limited Operating History

The Company has no history of generating profits. The Company expects to continue to incur losses unless and until such time as it develops its properties and commences operations on its properties. The development of the properties will require the commitment of substantial financial resources. The amount and timing of expenditures will depend on a number of factors, some of which are beyond the Company's control, including the progress of ongoing exploration, studies and development, the results of consultant analysis and recommendations, the rate at which operating losses are incurred and the execution of any joint venture agreements with strategic parties, if any. There can be no assurance that the Company will generate operating revenues or profits in the future.

Special Skill and Knowledge

Various aspects of the Company's business require specialized skills and knowledge. Such skills and knowledge include the areas of permitting, geology, drilling, metallurgy, logistical planning and implementation of exploration and development programs as well as finance and accounting. The Company has been able to recruit and retain employees and consultants with the necessary skills and knowledge. The Company believes it will continue to be able to do so; however, no assurance can be made in that regard.

Environmental and Other Regulatory Requirements

All phases of the Company's operations are subject to environmental regulation (including environmental impact assessments and permitting). Environmental legislation and international standards are continually evolving in a manner which will require stricter standards and enforcement, increased fines and penalties for non-compliance, more stringent environmental assessments of proposed projects and a heightened degree of responsibility for companies and their officers, directors and employees. There have been a number of recent regulatory changes in Colombia and the Company expects additional regulatory changes, new interpretations and possibly enhanced enforcement to occur in the future. There is no assurance that the Company can or will be able to meet all standards on time, which could adversely affect the Company's business, financial condition or operations.

Environmental hazards may exist on the properties in which the Company holds interests which are unknown to the Company at present and which have been caused by artisanal miners or previous or existing owners or operators of the properties.

Failure to comply with applicable laws, regulations, permitting and zoning requirements may result in enforcement actions thereunder, including orders issued by regulatory or judicial authorities causing

operations to cease or be curtailed, and may include corrective measures requiring capital expenditures, installation of additional equipment, or remedial actions. Parties engaged in mining operations or in the exploration, development or production of mineral properties may be required to compensate those suffering loss or damage by reason of the mining activities and may have civil or criminal fines or penalties imposed for violations of applicable laws or regulations. Amendments to current laws, regulations and permits governing operations and activities of mining and exploration companies, or more stringent implementation of existing laws, could have a material adverse impact on the Company and cause an increase in exploration expenses or capital expenditures or require abandonment or delays in the development of new exploration properties.

It is not possible for the Company to accurately predict changes in laws or policy or the extent to which any such developments or changes may have a material adverse effect on the Company's operations. Failure to comply strictly with applicable laws, regulations and local practices relating to mineral rights applications and tenure could result in loss, reduction or expropriation of entitlements, or the imposition of additional local or foreign parties as joint venture partners with carried or other interests. The occurrence of any of these various factors and uncertainties cannot be accurately predicted and could have an adverse effect on the properties, business, operations or financial condition of the Company. In addition, in the event of a dispute arising from foreign operations, the Company may be subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of foreign courts or may not be successful in subjecting foreign persons to the jurisdiction of courts in Canada.

The Company cannot give any assurances that breaches of environmental laws (whether inadvertent or not) or environmental pollution will not materially or adversely affect its financial condition. There is no assurance that future changes to environmental regulation, if any, will not adversely affect the Company.

In the future, the Company may require, from time to time, various approvals including, but not limited to, the approval from the National Environmental Licensing Authority (ANLA in Spanish) or the regional environmental authority for environmental permits. There is no assurance that the Company will receive the various approvals or receive them within a reasonable time period.

Compliance with Anti-Corruption Laws and ESTMA

The Company is subject to various anti-corruption laws and regulations including, but not limited to, the Canadian *Corruption of Foreign Public Officials Act*. In general, these laws prohibit a company and its employees and intermediaries from bribing or making other prohibited payments to foreign officials or other persons to obtain or retain business or gain some other business advantage. The Company's primary operations are located in Colombia and, according to Transparency International, Colombia is perceived as having fairly high levels of corruption relative to Canada. The Company cannot predict the nature, scope or effect of future regulatory requirements to which its operations might be subject or the manner in which existing laws might be administered or interpreted.

Failure to comply with the applicable legislation and other similar foreign laws could expose the Company and its senior management to civil and/or criminal penalties, other sanctions and remedial measures, legal expenses and reputational damage, all of which could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations. Likewise, any investigation of any potential violations of the applicable anti-corruption legislation by Canadian or foreign authorities could also have an adverse impact on the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations, as well as on the market price of the Common Shares. As a consequence of these legal and regulatory requirements, the Company instituted policies with regard to its anti-corruption policies. There can be no assurance or guarantee that such efforts have been and will be completely effective in ensuring the Company's compliance, and the compliance of its employees, consultants, contractors and other agents, with all applicable anti-corruption laws.

In addition, the Canadian Extractive Sector Transparency Measures Act ("ESTMA"), which became effective June 1, 2015, requires public disclosure of payments to governments by mining and oil and gas companies engaged in the commercial development of oil, gas and minerals who are either publicly listed in Canada or with business or assets in Canada. Commencing in 2017, mandatory annual reporting is required for extractive companies with respect to payments made to foreign and domestic governments at all levels, including entities established by two or more governments. ESTMA requires reporting on the payments of any taxes, royalties, fees, production entitlements, bonuses, dividends, infrastructure improvement payments, and any other prescribed payment over C\$100,000. Failure to report, false

reporting or structuring payments to avoid reporting may result in fines of up to C\$250,000 (which may be concurrent). If the Company becomes subject to an enforcement action or is in violation of ESTMA, this may result in significant penalties, fines and/or sanctions, which may have a material adverse effect on the Company's reputation. The Company will be required to comply with ESTMA reporting requirements.

Insurance and Uninsurable Risks

Exploration, development and production operations on mineral properties involve numerous risks including, but not limited to, unexpected or unusual geological operating conditions, rock bursts, caveins, fires, floods, landslides, earthquakes and other environmental occurrences, risks relating to the storage and shipment of precious metal concentrates or doré bars, and political and social instability. Such occurrences could result in damage to mineral properties, damage to underground development, damage to facilities, personal injury or death, environmental damage to the Company's properties or the properties of others, delays in the ability to undertake exploration and development, monetary losses and possible legal liability. Should such liabilities arise, they could reduce or eliminate future profitability and result in increasing costs and a decline in the value of the securities of the Company.

The Company may be unable to maintain insurance to cover these risks at economically feasible premiums. Insurance coverage may not continue to be available or may not be adequate to cover any resulting liability. Moreover, insurance against risks such as environmental pollution or other hazards as a result of exploration, development and production is not always available to the Company or to other companies in the mining industry on acceptable terms. The Company might also become subject to liability for pollution or other hazards which it may not be insured against or which the Company may elect not to insure against because of premium costs or other reasons. Losses from any of the above events may cause the Company to incur significant costs that could have a material adverse effect upon its financial performance and results of operations.

Government Regulation

The mineral exploration, mining, processing, and development activities of the Company are subject to various laws and regulations governing prospecting, exploration, development, production, taxes, labour standards and occupational health, mine safety, toxic substances, land use, water use, waste disposal, land claims of local people, mine development, and other matters. Although the Company's exploration activities are currently carried out in accordance with all applicable rules and regulations, no assurance can be given that new rules and regulations will not be enacted or that existing rules and regulations will not be applied in a manner which could limit or curtail exploration. Amendments to current laws and regulations governing operations and activities of exploration, or more stringent implementation thereof could have an adverse impact on the Company.

The Company's mineral exploration activities in Colombia may be adversely affected in varying degrees by changing government regulations relating to the mining industry or shifts in political conditions that increase royalties or the costs related to the Company's activities or maintaining its properties. Operations may also be affected in varying degrees by government regulations with respect to restrictions on production, price controls, government-imposed royalties, claim fees, export controls, income taxes, and expropriation of property, environmental legislation and project safety. The effect of these factors cannot be accurately predicted. Although the Company's exploration are currently carried out in material compliance with all applicable rules and regulations, no assurance can be given that new rules and regulations will not be enacted or that existing rules and regulations will not be applied in a manner which could limit or curtail exploration.

Furthermore, any shift in political attitudes, or amendments to current laws and regulations governing operations and activities of exploration or more stringent implementation thereof are beyond the control of the Company and could have a substantial adverse impact on the Company.

Market Price of Common Shares

Securities of mineral exploration, development and production companies have experienced substantial volatility in the past, often based on factors unrelated to the financial performance or prospects of the companies involved. These factors include macroeconomic developments in North America and globally, and market perceptions of the attractiveness of particular industries. The price of the Common Shares is

also likely to be significantly affected by short-term changes in precious and base metal mineral prices or the Company's financial condition or results of operations as reflected in its quarterly and annual earnings reports. Other risks unrelated to the Company's performance that may have an effect on the price of the Common Shares include the following: regulatory or economic changes affecting the Company's operations; variations in the Company's operating results; developments in the Company's business or its competitors; the extent of analytical coverage available to investors concerning the Company's business may be limited if investment banks with research capabilities do not follow the Company's securities; lessening in trading volume and general market interest in the Company's securities may affect an investor's ability to trade significant numbers of Common Shares; changes in market sentiment towards the Common Shares; the size of the Company's public float may limit the ability of some institutions to invest in the Company's securities; and a substantial decline in the price of the Common Shares that persists for a significant period of time could cause the Company's securities to be delisted from the exchange on which they trade, further reducing market liquidity.

There can be no assurance that an active market for the Common Shares will be sustained. Investors should be aware that the value of the Common Shares may be volatile, and investors may, on disposing of the Common Shares, realize less than their original investment or may lose their entire investment.

The Company's operating results and prospects from time to time may be below the expectations of market analysts and investors. In addition, stock markets from time to time suffer significant price and volume fluctuations that affect the market prices of the securities listed thereon and which may be unrelated to the Company's operating performance. Any of these events could result in a decline in the market price of the Common Shares. The Common Shares may, therefore, not be suitable as a short-term investment. In addition, the market price of the Common Shares may not reflect the underlying value of the Company's net assets. The price at which the Common Shares will be traded and the price at which investors may realize their shares are influenced by a large number of factors, some specific to the Company and its proposed operations, and some which may affect the business and geographic sectors in which the Company operates. Such factors could also include the performance of the Company's operations, large purchases or sales of the Common Shares, liquidity or the absence of liquidity in the Common Shares, legislative or regulatory changes relating to the business of the Company and general economic conditions.

As a result of any of these factors, the market price of the Common Shares at any given point in time may not accurately reflect the Company's long-term value. Securities class action litigation often has been brought against companies following periods of volatility in the market price of their securities. The Company may in the future be the target of similar litigation. Securities litigation could result in substantial costs and damages and divert management's attention and resources.

Dividend Policy

No dividends on the shares of the Company have been paid by the Company to date. Payment of any future dividends will be at the discretion of the Board after taking into account many factors, including the Company's operating results, financial condition and current and anticipated cash needs. At this time, the Company has no source of cash flow and anticipates using all available cash resources towards its stated business objectives and retaining all earnings, if any, to finance its business operations.

Future Sales of Common Shares by Existing Shareholders

Sales of a large number of Common Shares in the public markets, or the potential for such sales, could decrease the trading price of the Common Shares and could impair the Company's ability to raise capital through future sales of Common Shares. In addition, shareholders of the Company who have an investment profit in the Common Shares that they own may seek to liquidate their holdings, which could decrease the trading price of the Common Shares and could also impair the Company's ability to raise capital through future sales of Common Shares.

Litigation Risk

All industries, including the mining industry, are subject to legal claims, with and without merit. Defence and settlement costs of legal claims can be substantial, even with respect to claims that have no merit. Due to the inherent uncertainty of the litigation and dispute resolution process, the litigation process could take away from management time and efforts and the resolution of any particular legal proceeding to

which the Company may become subject could have a material adverse effect on the Company's financial position, results of operations or the Company's property development.

Seizure or Expropriation of Assets

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Colombian constitution, the Government of Colombia can exercise its eminent domain powers in respect of the Company's assets in the event such action is required to protect public interests. According to Law 388 of 1997, eminent domain powers may be exercised through: (i) an ordinary expropriation proceeding (expropiacion ordinaria), (ii) an administrative expropriation (expropiacion administrativa) or (iii) an expropriation for war reasons (expropiacion en caso de guerra). In all cases, the Company would be entitled to a fair indemnification for expropriated assets. However, indemnification may be paid in some cases years after the asset is effectively expropriated. Furthermore, the indemnification may be lower than the price for which the expropriated asset could be sold in a free market sale or the value of the asset as part of an ongoing business.

Accounting Policies and Internal Controls

The Company prepares its financial reports in accordance with IFRS as issued by the IASB. In preparing financial reports, management may need to rely upon assumptions, make estimates or use their best judgment in determining the financial condition of the Company. Significant accounting policies are described in more detail in the Company's annual consolidated financial statements. The Company has implemented and continues to assess its internal control systems for financial reporting in order to have a reasonable level of assurance that financial transactions are properly authorized, assets are safeguarded against unauthorized or improper use and transactions are properly recorded and reported. Although the Company believes its financial reporting and annual consolidated financial statements are prepared with reasonable safeguards and that all accounting policies are applied correctly to ensure reliability of the information, the Company continues to be in a start up phase and internal control processes are still maturing.

Conflicts of Interest

Certain directors and officers of the Company are also directors, officers and/or shareholders of other companies that are similarly engaged in the business of natural resource exploration, development and production. Such associations may give rise to conflicts of interest from time to time. The directors of the Company are required by law to act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of the Company and to disclose any interest which they may have in any project or opportunity of the Company. If a conflict of interest arises at a meeting of the Board, any director in a conflict is required under the Business Corporations Act (Ontario) and the Company's by-laws to disclose his/her interest.

Competition

The Company may compete with other exploration companies which may have greater financial resources and technical abilities for the acquisition of mineral concessions, claims, leases and other mineral interests as well as for the recruitment and retention of qualified employees. The Company's ability to increase the number of properties that it holds in the future will depend not only on its ability to explore and develop its present properties, but also on its ability to select, acquire and develop suitable properties or prospects.

Differing Interpretations in Tax Regimes in Foreign Jurisdictions

Tax regimes in foreign jurisdictions may be subject to sudden changes. The Company's interpretation of taxation law where it operates and as applied to its transactions and activities may be different than that of applicable tax authorities. As a result, tax treatment of certain operations, actions or transactions may be challenged and reassessed by applicable tax authorities, which could result in adverse tax consequences for the Company, including additional taxes, penalties or interest. See also "Risks of the Business – Bermuda Legal Matters - The Company May Become Subject to Taxes in Bermuda".

Tax Matters

The Company is subject to income taxes and other taxes in a variety of jurisdictions and the Company's tax structure is subject to review by both Canadian and foreign taxation authorities. The Company's taxes

are affected by a number of factors, some of which are outside of its control, including the application and interpretation of the relevant tax laws and treaties. If the Company's filing position were to be challenged for whatever reason, this could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, results of operations and financial condition.

Land Surface Rights

The Company does not own any surface rights. There is a risk that the Company will not be able to purchase surface rights from third parties or on terms that are acceptable to the Company. Additionally, Colombia Law 1448/2011 compensates, with land restitution, communities that have been displaced as a result of political violence. In the event that the Company is impacted by application of Law 1448/2011, it has the right to begin an expropriation process available under Colombian law, although the process could take longer than expected. Although the Company does not expect the effects of Law 1448/2011 to impact the Company, there is a risk that land near or on the Company's projects could be impacted, which could have a material adverse effect on the Company.

Foreign Subsidiaries

The Company conducts certain of its operations through foreign subsidiaries and some of its assets are held in such entities. Any limitation on the transfer of cash or other assets between the Company and such entities, or among such entities, could restrict the Company's ability to fund its operations efficiently. Any such limitations, or the perception that such limitations may exist now or in the future, could have an adverse impact on the Company's valuation and stock price.

Unknown Liabilities in Connection with Acquisitions

As part of the Company's acquisitions, the Company has assumed certain liabilities and risks. While the Company conducted due diligence in connection with such acquisitions, there may be liabilities or risks that the Company failed, or was unable, to discover in the course of performing the due diligence investigations or for which the Company was not indemnified. Any such liabilities, individually or in the aggregate, could have a material adverse effect on the Company's financial position and results of operations.

Acquisitions and Integration

From time to time, it can be expected that the Company will examine opportunities to acquire additional exploration and/or mining assets and businesses. Any acquisition that the Company may choose to complete may be of a significant size, may change the scale of the Company's business and operations, and may expose the Company to new geographic, political, social, operating, financial and geological risks. The Company's success in its acquisition activities depends upon its ability to identify suitable acquisition candidates, negotiate acceptable terms for any such acquisition, and integrate the acquired operations successfully with those of the Company. Any acquisition would typically be accompanied by risks. If the Company chooses to raise debt capital to finance any such acquisitions, the Company's leverage will be increased, along with potential additional performance and covenant requirements which may increase the risk of default or reduced capital. If the Company chooses to use equity as consideration for such acquisitions, existing shareholders may suffer dilution. Alternatively, the Company may choose to finance any such acquisitions with its existing resources. There can be no assurance that the Company would be successful in overcoming these risks or any other problems encountered in connection with such acquisitions.

Minority Ethnic Groups

Various international and national laws, codes, resolutions, conventions, guidelines, and other materials relate to the rights of Minority Ethnic Groups. Many of these materials impose obligations on government to respect the rights of Minority Ethnic Groups. Some mandate that government consult with Minority Ethnic Groups regarding government actions which may affect Minority Ethnic Groups, including actions to approve or grant mining rights or permits. The obligations of government and private parties under the various international and national materials pertaining to Minority Ethnic Groups continue to evolve and be defined. The Company's current or future operations are subject to a risk that one or more groups of Minority Ethnic Groups may oppose continued operation, further development, or new development on those projects or operations on which the Company holds an exploration right. Such opposition may be directed through legal or administrative proceedings or protests, roadblocks or other forms of public

expression against the Company or the owner/operator's activities. Opposition by Minority Ethnic Groups to such activities may require modification of or preclude operation or development of projects or may require entering into agreements with Minority Ethnic Groups. Claims and protests of Minority Ethnic Groups may disrupt or delay activities of the owners/operators of the Company's exploration assets.

Enforcement of Legal Rights

The Company's material subsidiaries are organized under the laws of foreign jurisdictions and certain of the Company's directors, management personnel and experts are located in foreign jurisdictions. Given that the Company's material assets and certain of its directors, management personnel and experts are located outside of Canada, investors may have difficulty in effecting service of process within Canada and collecting from or enforcing against the Company or its directors, officers and experts, any judgments obtained by the Canadian courts or Canadian securities regulatory authorities and predicated on the civil liability provisions of Canadian securities legislation or otherwise. Similarly, in the event a dispute arises from the Company's foreign operations, the Company may be subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of foreign courts or may not be successful in subjecting foreign persons to the jurisdictions of courts in Canada.

Forward - looking Information May Prove Inaccurate

Certain valuations and measurements required consideration of forecast estimates and the use of various assumptions reliant upon factors which are beyond the control of the Company. Readers of this MD&A should refer to the "Caution Regarding Forward-Looking Information" section.

Reliability of Mineral Resource and Reserve Estimates

The Company currently does not have any mineral resources or mineral reserves. Furthermore, there is no certainty that any of the mineral resources or mineral reserves on any project with mineral resources or mineral reserves will be realized. Until a deposit is actually mined and processed, the quantity of metal and grades must be considered as estimates only. Any material change in quantity of metal, grade or dilution may affect the economic viability of any project undertaken by the Company.

Environmentally Protected Areas/Forest Reserves

Colombia has a number of environmentally protected areas or forest reserves ("Protected Areas") that can, in certain circumstances, restrict mining activities. There are varying levels of Protected Areas within the country with different levels of restrictions. The Company's exploration properties may be subject to Protected Areas and while the Company does not expect any difficulties in obtaining the necessary permits to conduct mining activities in these areas, there can be no assurances that the laws or boundaries will not change or that permits will be granted which could have a material impact on the Company's operations. In addition, there can be no assurances that the government of Colombia will not declare new environmentally-protected areas or forest reserves that could potentially impact the Company's Colombian Projects which could have a material negative impact on the Company.

Cultural or Ethnic Restricted Areas

Colombia has a number of restricted areas that can, in certain circumstances, require companies to obtain special permits to advance into exploration and exploitation activities. Restricted areas include (i) urban areas, (ii) archeological interest areas, (iii) cultural and historical interest areas, and (iv) public untilities and infrastructure areas. A small portion of the Company's exploration titles and/or exploration applications are subject to restricted areas and while the Company does not expect any difficulties in obtaining the necessary permits to conduct mining activities in these areas, there can be no assurances that the laws or boundaries will not change or that permits will be granted. In addition, there can be no assurances that the government of Colombia will not declare new restricted areas that could potentially impact the Company's operations which could have a material negative impact on the Company.

Fluctuation in Mineral Prices

The mining industry in general is intensely competitive and there is no assurance that, even if commercial quantities of mineral resources are discovered, a profitable market will exist for the sale of same or mineral prices will be such that the Company's properties can be mined at a profit. Factors beyond the control of

the Company may affect the ability of the Company to attract investors and receive further funds for exploration and development. Metal prices have experienced volatile and significant price movements over short periods of time, and are affected by numerous factors beyond the control of the Company, including international economic and political trends, expectations of inflation, currency exchange fluctuations (specifically, the Canadian and U.S. dollars and the Colombian peso relative to other currencies), interest rates, global or regional consumption patterns, speculative activities and increased production due to improved mining and production methods. In particular, the supply of and demand for gold are affected by, among other factors, political events, economic conditions and production costs in major gold-producing regions and governmental or central bank policies with respect to gold holdings. Declines in the price of gold may adversely affect the Company's development and mining projects. Although the Company believes that the fundamentals of supply and demand will remain stable in the future and participants in various sectors will continue to support the gold price despite uncertainties in the global economy, there is no guarantee that the gold price will not materially decrease.

Credit Risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, held with banks and financial institutions, and amounts receivable. The maximum exposure to credit risk is equal to the carrying value of the financial assets.

Global Economic Conditions

There are significant uncertainties regarding the price of gold, other precious and base metals and other minerals and the availability of equity financing for the purposes of mineral exploration and development. Currently, prices of certain commodities such as gold have reflected volatility, which has had an impact on the Company and the mining industry in general. The Company's future performance is largely tied to the exploration and development of the Colombia Projects and the commodity and financial markets. There can be no certainty that commodity prices will increase or maintain the same levels. Current financial markets are likely to continue to be volatile in Canada potentially through 2021 and beyond, reflecting ongoing concerns about the stability of the global economy and weakening global growth prospects. Unprecedented uncertainty in the credit markets has also led to increased difficulties in financing activities. As a result, the Company may have difficulty raising financing for the purposes of mineral exploration and development and, if obtained, on terms favourable to the Company and/or without excessively diluting existing shareholders of the Company. These economic trends may limit the Company's ability to develop and/or further explore its mineral property interests.

Additionally, global economic conditions may cause decreases in asset values that are deemed to be other than temporary, which may result in impairment losses. If such volatility and market turmoil continue, the Company's business and financial conditions could be adversely impacted.

Unreliable Historical Data

The Company has compiled technical data in respect of the Colombia Projects, some of which was not prepared by the Company. While the data represents a useful resource for the Company, much of it must be verified by the Company before being relied upon in formulating exploration and development programs.

Infrastructure

Mining, processing, development and exploration activities depend, to one degree or another, on adequate infrastructure. Reliable roads, bridges, power sources and water supply are important determinants, which affect capital and operating costs. Unusual or infrequent weather phenomena, road blockades, sabotage, government or other interference in the maintenance or provision of such infrastructure could adversely affect the Company's operations, development, financial condition and results of operations.

Bermuda Legal Matters

The Company's main subsidiary (the "Bermuda Subsidiary") is subject to the laws of Bermuda. The following is a non-exhaustive summary of certain laws of Bermuda which are relevant to the operations of the Bermuda Subsidiary.

Enforcement of Judgments in Bermuda May be Difficult

The current position with regard to enforcement of judgments in Bermuda is set out below but this may be subject to change. A final and conclusive judgment of a foreign court against the Bermuda Subsidiary, under which a sum of money is payable (not being a sum of money payable in respect of multiple damages, or a fine, penalty tax or other charge of a like nature) may be the subject of enforcement proceedings in the Supreme Court of Bermuda under the common law doctrine of "obligation by action" on the debt evidenced by the foreign court's judgment. On general principles, such proceedings would be expected to be successful provided that:

- the court which gave the judgment was competent to hear the action in accordance with private international law principles as applied in Bermuda; and
- the judgment is not contrary to public policy in Bermuda, has not been obtained by fraud or in proceedings contrary to natural justice, and is not based on an error in Bermuda law.

Enforcement of such a judgment against assets in Bermuda may involve the conversion of the judgment debt into Bermuda dollars, but the Bermuda Monetary Authority (the "BMA") has indicated that its present policy is to give the consents necessary to enable recovery in the currency of the obligation. No stamp duty or similar or other tax or duty is payable in Bermuda on the enforcement of a foreign judgment. Court fees will be payable in connection with proceedings for enforcement.

Exemption from Exchange Controls

The Bermuda Subsidiary is designated as "non-resident" for exchange control purposes by the BMA. Where a company is so designated, it is free to deal in currencies of any other country outside the Bermuda exchange control area which are freely convertible into currencies of any other country.

Limitations on Carrying on Business

Under Bermuda law, exempted companies are companies formed for the purpose of conducting business outside Bermuda from a principal place of business in Bermuda. As a result, they are exempt from Bermuda laws restricting the percentage of share capital that may be held by non-Bermudians, but they may not participate in certain business transactions, including:

- (a) the acquisition or holding of land in Bermuda (except that required for their business and held by way of lease or tenancy for terms of not more than 50 years) without the express authorization of the Bermuda legislature;
- (b) the taking of mortgages on land in Bermuda to secure an amount in excess of \$50,000 Bermuda dollars without the consent of the Minister of Finance of Bermuda or such other Minister as may be appointed to administer the *Bermuda Companies Act 1981* (the "Minister");
- (c) the acquisition of any bonds or debentures secured by any land in Bermuda, other than certain types of Bermuda government securities; or
- (d) the carrying on of business of any kind in Bermuda, except in furtherance of their business carried on outside Bermuda or under license granted by the Minister.

Economic Substance

Bermuda enacted legislation to introduce economic substance requirements in accordance with the requirements from the European Union and in furtherance of its commitment to comply with international standards concerning the OECD's Base Erosion and Profit Shifting report. The legislation was enacted to demonstrate the jurisdictions commitment to comply with international standards with respect to cooperation for tax purposes and to ensure that Bermuda does not facilitate the use of structures which attract profits but which do not reflect real economic activity within the jurisdiction. The current legislation is set out in the *Economic Substance Act 2018* (the "ES Act"), as amended, and the Economic Substance Regulations 2018, as amended, (the "ES Regulations") (together the ES Act and the ES Regulation, the "ES Law").

The ES Law applies to any 'relevant entity' that conducts any 'relevant activity' in a 'relevant financial period.' A relevant entity that conducts a relevant activity must satisfy the economic substance requirements under the ES Law in relation to that activity. A relevant entity conducting a relevant activity must demonstrate it has satisfied the requirements under the ES Law by filing a Declaration Form with the Bermuda Registrar of Companies (the "Registrar") in respect of that financial year. Each relevant

entity is require to file the Declaration Form no later than six months after the last day of each relevant financial period, with the first financial year commencing on or after 1 January 2019.

If the Registrar determines that a 'relevant entity' has not met the applicable economic substance requirements in accordance with the ES Laws, the Registrar is required by law to provide to the Bermuda Minster of Finance the information filed by the relevant entity pursuant to the ES Laws, and the Minister is required to provide that information to his counterpart in the relevant EU member state or other relevant jurisdiction. Additionally, the Registrar also has the power to impose financial penalties, restrictions or regulate the business activities of the relevant entity or be authorised by the court for such proceedings under the relevant legislation to be taken, including strike off.

Evolving data privacy legislation

In Bermuda, the *Personal Information Protection Act 2016* ("PIPA") was introduced to regulate the use of personal information in a manner that both protects its privacy and recognizes the need for organizations to use personal information for legitimate purposes. On 27 July 2016, PIPA received Royal Assent and thereafter, on 2 December 2016, limited administrative provisions of PIPA, relating to the appointment of a Privacy Commissioner and the creation of an independent office of the Privacy Commissioner came into force. PIPA sets out a number of requirements that must be complied with when organisations are handling personal information, including, the obligation to adopt suitable measures and policies, to appoint a privacy officer, to use personal information in a lawful and fair manner and maintain accurate records, the obligation to provide individuals with a clear and easily accessible privacy notice and to ensure adequate and proportionate security safeguards are in place and the obligation to report any breaches to the Privacy Commissioner. Bermuda's first Privacy Commissioner was appointed on January 20, 2020 and subsequently, it is anticipated that the obligations under PIPA will become operative in the near future.

CAUTION REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

Except for statements of historical fact relating to the Company, certain information contained in this MD&A constitutes "forward-looking information" within the meaning of applicable Canadian securities legislation and "forward-looking statements within the meaning of applicable U.S. securities laws. Forward-looking information includes, but is not limited to: statements with respect to the potential of the Company's properties or projects; exploration results; potential mineralization; exploration plans; obtaining necessary permits; the estimation of mineral resources and mineral reserves; the acquisition of additional projects; the future price of gold and other mineral commodities; the realization of mineral resource and mineral reserve estimates; success of exploration activities; cost and timing of future exploration and development; the development and advancement of a Corporate Social Responsibility ("CSR") program; conclusion of economic evaluations; requirements for additional capital; statements regarding the Company's steps to address its liquidity risk; other statements relating to the financial and business prospects of the Company; and other future events and information as to the Company's strategy, plans or future financial or operating performance. In addition, statements (including data in tables) relating to mineral reserves and resources and gold equivalent ounces are forward-looking statements, as they involve implied assessment, based on certain estimates and assumptions, and no assurance can be given that the estimates will be realized.

Forward-looking statements are statements that are not historical facts and are generally, but not always, identified by use of forward-looking terminology such as "expects", "plans", "anticipates", "believes", "intends", "estimates", "projects", "targets", "potential", "scheduled", "budgeted", "forecasted" and similar expressions or variations (including negative variations), or that events or conditions "will", "would", "may", "might", "could", "should", "will be taken", "occur" or "be achieved".

Forward-looking information is based on the reasonable assumptions, estimates, analysis and opinions of management considered reasonable at the date the statements are made in light of management's experience and its perception of historical trends, current conditions and expected future developments, as well as other factors that it believes to be relevant and reasonable in the circumstances at the date that such statements are made. Forward-looking information is inherently subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause the actual results, level of activity, performance or achievements of the Company to be materially different from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking information, including but not limited to risks related to: uncertainties associated with negotiations, misjudgments in the course of preparing forward-looking information; the actual results of exploration

activities; the inherent risks involved in the exploration and development of mineral properties; liquidity risk; the presence of artisanal miners and the effect of mineral extraction by third parties without title; unreliable historical data for projects; cybersecurity risks; risks regarding community relations; security risks; ability to maintain obligations; uncertainties inherent in conducting operations in a foreign country; uncertainties related to the availability and costs of financing needed in the future; reliance on outside contractors in certain exploration operations; risks arising from labour and employment matters; health and safety risks; risks related to use of explosives; reliance on adequate infrastructure for exploration activities; unexpected adverse changes that may result in failure to comply with environmental and other regulatory requirements; environmentally-protected areas/forest reserves risks; dependence on key management employees; title risks related to the ownership of the Company's projects; the Company's limited operating history; risks relating to retaining employees and consultants with special skills and knowledge; fluctuations in mineral prices; uninsurable risks related to exploration; risks relating to shareholder(s) exercising significant control over the Company; delays in obtaining government approvals; uncertainties inherent in conducting operations in a foreign country; title risks related to the ownership of the Company's projects and the related surface rights and to the boundaries of the Company's projects; risks relating to the Company's pending concession applications; uncertainties related to the availability and costs of financing needed in the future; differing interpretations of tax regimes in foreign jurisdictions; the loss of Canadian tax resident status; recovery of value added taxes; compliance with government regulation, anti-corruption laws and ESTMA; uncertainties inherent in competition with other exploration companies; non-governmental organization intervention and the creation of adverse sentiment among the inhabitants of areas of mineral development; uncertainties related to conflicts of interest of directors and officers of the Company; social media influence and reputation: the ability to fund operations through foreign subsidiaries; the residency of directors, officers and others; uncertainties related to holding minority interests in other companies; foreign currency fluctuations; global economic conditions; the market price of shares of the Company; the payment of future dividends; future sales of shares of the Company by existing shareholders; seizure or expropriation of assets; accounting policies and internal controls; passive foreign investment corporation; litigation risks; indigenous peoples; impairment of mineral properties; and Bermuda legal matters. See "Risks and Uncertainties" in this MD&A for further discussion regarding risk factors.

Material Forward-Looking Information

The unaudited interim consolidated financial statements of the Company for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 were prepared on a going concern basis. The going concern basis assumes that the Company will continue in operation for the foreseeable future and will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business. The assumption is based on the anticipation of obtaining additional sources of financing to fund its exploration and operating activities for the foreseeable future. There is no assurance that the Company will be able to obtain adequate financing in the future or that such financing will be on terms advantageous to the Company.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Corporate Office

82 Richmond Street East, Toronto, Ontario, M5C 1P1

Officers

Ari Sussman, Executive Chairman Omar Ossma, President and CEO Paul Begin, CFO **Directors**

Ari Sussman, Executive Chairman